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W UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS WINIY -5 PH 3 2y
SAN ANTONIO DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
V.

JOHN COCKERHAM, JR.; SAUD AL
TAWASH; GREEN VALLEY CO;
MOHAMMED HOWALUL JOSEPH E.
NAKOUZI; JIREH SPRINGS GENERAL
TRADING AND CONTRACTING
ESTABLISHMENT; JAMAL AL DHAMA;
AND PALM SPRINGS GENERAL TRADING
AND CONTRACTING ESTABLISHMENT,

Civi]l Action No.

SAOSCAQBIS W

R N R N T N . i g

Defendants.

UNITED STATES’ COMPLAINT

The United States of America ("United States" or "government"), for its complaint,

states as follows:

Jurisdiction and Venue

l. This is an action by the United States against defendants John Cockerham,
Jr., Saud Al Tawash, Palm Springs General Trading and Contracting Establishment (Palm
Springs), Green Valley Co. (Green Valley), Mohammed Howaiji, Joseph E. Nakouzi,
Jireh Springs General Trading and Contracting Establishment (Jireh Springs), and Jamal
Al Dhama, for violations of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733; against
defendants John Cockerham, Jr., Saud Al Tawash, Green Valley, Mohammed Howaiji,

and Joseph E. Nakouzi, for civil penalties for violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 209(a)




(supplementation of a government salary) and 216(b) (establishing a civil penalty for
violations), and for damages for breach of fiduciary duty and inducing a breach of
fiduciary duty; and against defendants Green Valley and Palm Springs, for common law
and equitable claims of breach of contract, contract cancellation and restitution, unjust
enrichment, and payment by mistake.

2. This action involves a scheme on the part of John Cockerham, Jr. and James
Momon, Jr., two Army contracting officers who served in Kuwait, and several foreign
national contractors, whereby Cockerham and Momon awardedk Blanket Purchase
Agreements (BPAs), and issued purchase orders thereunder to the defendant contractors,
and related companies, in exchange for monetary bribes and other things of value, thereby
resulting in , among other things, the submission of falsely inflated and fraudulent claims
for payment to the United States Treasury. The BPAs at issue herein include BPA
WO0FP6-05-A-0001 (BPA 0001); BPA W912D1-05-A-0063 (BPA 0063); and W912D1-
05-A-0028-P00001 (BPA 0028).

3. The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-
3733, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345, and 1355, and its general common law and equitable
jurisdiction. Cockerham was a resident of this district when the FCA violations
transpired.

4. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1395,

and 31 U.S.C. § 3732(a).




5. Plaintiff is the United States of America.

The Participants in the Scheme

6. Defendant John Cockerham, Jr. (Cockerham) was employed by the
Department of Defense (DoD) as a Major in the United States Army attached to the Army
Contracting Activity, Fort Sam Houston Army Post, San Antonio, Texas, from in or about
June 2004 until in or about July 2007. From on or about June 30, 2004, through late
December 2005, Cockerham was deployed to Camp Arifjan, Kuwait, as a contracting
officer. Cockerham also was a resident of San Antonio, Texas,‘within this District.

7. James Momon, Jr. (Momon) was a Major with the United States Army
deployed to Camp Arifjan, Kuwait, as a contracting officer from about September 21,
2005, through about August 10, 2006.

8. As Army officers assigned to a contracting office, Momon and Cockerham
were responsible for soliciting and reviewing bids for DoD contracts in support of Army
operations in the Middle East, including Operation Iraqi Freedom, and for awarding
contracts for those goods and services. As contracting officers, Cockerham and Momon
issued numerous blanket purchase agreements, and placed purchase orders under those
BPAs known as “calls”. BPAs are indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity contract
vehicles by which DoD agrees to pay a contractor a specified price for a particular good

or service. DoD may order goods or services under a BPA in whatever quantity it needs

by issuing calls under the BPA. Each call, if accepted by the contractor, becomes a




separate contract. The contractor is bound to perform each call for the price agreed upon
in the BPA. DoD used BPAs to purchase, among other things, bottled water destined for
soldiers serving in Kuwait and Iraq, wastewater removal services (also called “black and
grey water removal”), and other goods and services. The total value of the goods and
services that may be called under the BPA typically is capped.

9. Defendant Saud Al Tawash is a Kuwaiti citizen who, along with members
of his family, owned or controlled or otherwise had an interest in several companies,
including Gulf Telecom and Gulf Group General Enterprises Co. W.L.L. (Gulf Group),
Palm Springs, Green Valley, and Jireh Springs. Saud Al Tawash agreed with defendant
Cockerham to give things of value to Cockerham, including purporting to hire
Cockerham’s sister, Carolyn Blake (Blake), to work for Al Tawash’s Gulf Group
companies, in exchange for award of BPAs, and calls issued thereunder, to companies
which Al Tawash owned, controlled and/or had an interest, including Gulf Group, Green
Valley, Jireh Springs, and Palm Springs.

10.  Defendant Green Valley, also known as Al Wadi Al Akhdar Co., is a
Kuwaiti company to which Cockerham and Momon awarded BPAs and/or calls in
exchange for bribes which defendants Saud Al Tawash, Green Valley, Mohammed
Howaiji, Joseph Nakouzi, Jireh Springs, and Jamal Al Dhama, agreed to pay, and did pay,

to Cockerham and Momon. Green Valley claimed on its internet site to be “a leading

firm” in the field of sewage and fuel services, supplying “Major Clients [sic] such as




K.B.R. and [the] U.S. Army in Iraq.”

11.  The Central Contractor Registry (CCR) is a United States government
database listing contractors who do business with the government. It is publicly available
on the internet at https://www.bpn.gov/ccr/default.aspx. At times pertinent to this
complaint, Green Valley was listed in the CCR. According to the CCR, Green Valley’s
Government Business Primary POC (Point of Contact) was Mustafa Ibrahim Hawji [sic],
and its Government Business Alternate POC was Suresh Pulikkal, also known as Suresh
Pulikkal Achuthan.

12.  Defendant Mohammed Howaiji served as Green Valley’s assistant manager.
Howaiji, on behalf of Green Valley, agreed to pay, and did pay, bribes to Cockerham and
Momon in exchange for BPAs and/or calls to be awarded to Green Valley.

13.  Defendant Joseph E. Nakouzi served as Green Valley’s head supervisor.
Nakouzi agreed to pay, and did pay, bribes to Momon in exchange for BPAs and/or calls
to be awarded to Green Valley.

14.  Defendant Jireh Springs is a Kuwait company owned by Mona Al Dhama,
and managed by defendant Jamal Al Dhama, also known as Gamal Al Dhama. Jireh
Springs, through defendant Jamal Al Dhama, agreed to pay bribes to Cockerham in
exchange for BPAs and/or calls to be awarded to Jireh Springs; and Jireh Springs,

through defendant Saud Al Tawash, offered to pay a bribe to Momon 1n exchange for

payment for bottled water allegedly delivered by Jireh Springs under one of its BPAs.




Jireh Springs also gave things of value to defendant John Cockerham by, among other
things, sponsoring Cockerham’s sister, Carolyn Blake, for a Kuwait visa and purporting
to hire Ms. Blake to work for Jireh Springs.

15.  Jireh Springs is listed in the CCR, and its Government Business Primary
POC, according to the CCR, was Jamal Al Dhama.

16.  Defendant Palm Springs is a Kuwaiti company which purportedly entered
into a joint venture with Green Valley on November 18, 2004, to perform wastewater
removal services under BPA 0001 awarded by Cockerham to Green Valley. In a
declaration given under penalty of perjury dated October 23, 2008, in connection with a
debarment proceeding against Palm Springs, defendant Saud Al Tawash stated that he
was and is the exclusive manager of Palm Springs. Palm Springs is listed in the CCR.
According to the CCR, Surest (Pulikkal) Achuthan was Palm Springs” Electronic
Business Primary POC. Pulikkal also worked as an employee and agent of Green Valley,
Gulf Group, and Gulf Telecom.

17. The Court has personal jurisdiction over the defendants by reason of their
actions described below.

The Interrelationship Among Palm Springs,
Green Valley, Jireh Springs, Gulf Group and Gulf Telecom

18.  During the relevant period, Gulf Group, Gulf Telecom, Palm Springs, and
Jireh Springs were commonly owned and/or controlled by defendant Saud Al Tawash and

his family members, and acted in concert to obtain BPAs, calls thereunder, and other
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favorable contract actions in exchange for money paid to, and other things of value
conferred upon, Cockerham and Momon.

19.  Defendant Saud Al Tawash also had an interest in Green Valley either
directly, or through Gulf Group and Palm Springs, such that BPAs and calls awarded to
Green Valley benefitted Al Tawash and his companies.

20.  Saud Al Tawash is Gulf Group’s General Manager. Saud Al Tawash also
owns and controls a company related to Gulf Group called Gulf Telecom. At
Cockerham’s request, and at the direction of Al Tawash, Gulf Telecom purported to hire
Cockerham’s sister, Carolyn Blake, and paid for Blake’s housing, transportation, and
childrens’ education, vacations, and gave her with money to pay her debts in the United
States.

21.  Gulf Group and Gulf Telecom are registered in the CCR. According to the
CCR, Gulf Group’s and Gulf Telecom’s Government Business Primary POC is Saud Al
Tawash.

22.  Saud Al Tawash and his father, Abdul Aziz M. Al Tawash, own Palm
Springs. Saud Al Tawash is the manager of the business affairs of Palm Springs. On one
of its invoices to the Army on BPA 0001, Palm Springs utilized Jireh Spring’s email
address as the email address at which it could be contacted.

23.  Jireh Springs is owned by Mona Al Dhama, who is the mother of Saud Al

Tawash. Jireh Springs is managed by defendant Jamal Al Dhama, the uncle of Saud Al



Tawash.

24.  Green Valley was the environmental cleaning branch of Gulf Group.

25.  Gulf Group, Palm Springs, Jireh Springs, and Green Valley shared common
employees. During the relevant period, Surest Pulikkal, for example, acted as an
employee and agent of Gulf Group, Palm Springs, and Green Valley.

BPAs and Calls for Green Valley and
Palm Springs Issued by Defendant Cockerham

26.  Cockerham arrived at Camp Arifjan around June 2004,

27.  During the summer of 2004, Cockerham asked his sister, Blake, to relocate
to Kuwait. Cockerham intended that Blake would assist him in collecting bribe payments
from contractors to which Cockerham awarded BPAs. In or about August 2004, Blake
did relocate from the United States to Kuwait, and did in fact assist Cockerham by
collecting bribe payments. Blake needed a source of financial support while living in
Kuwait.

28.  In or about August 2004, at the request of Cockerham, Saud Al Tawash
purported to “hire” Blake to “work” for Al Tawash’s company, Gulf Telecom. Al
Tawash paid her a monthly payment, and paid for her housing expenses, the tuition for
her children’s education, transportation expenses, and vacations. Al Tawash also
provided money to Blake to enable Blake to pay debts in the United States. Al Tawash
did not expect Blake to perform work for Gulf Telecom. After several months, Blake

abandoned her ostensible employment with Gulf Telecom, but Al Tawash continued to
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provide money to Blake.

29.  Later, when Blake left the employ of Gulf Telecom, Saud Al Tawash’s
uncle, Jamal Al Dhama, purported to “hire” Blake to “work” for Jireh Springs, paid for
certain of her expenses in Kuwait, and sponsored her for purposes of obtaining a Kuwait
visa.

30.  Blake’s alleged jobs with Gulf Telecom and Jireh Springs were simply
conduits by which Al Tawash and his companies provided money to Blake at
Cockerham’s request, in exchange for Cockerham’s award of BPAs and calls to Al
Tawash’s companies, and other favorable official actions by Cockerham for the benefit of
these companies.

31.  For example, Cockerham was involved in the award during September 2004
of several BPAs to Gulf Group. These were BPA W912D1-04-P-0897 (BPA 897)
awarded on September 18, 2004, for dumpster and dumpster servicing at Camp Arifjan;
BPA W912D1-04-P-0932 (BPA 932) awarded on September 23, 2004, for latrines and
the servicing of latrines at Camp Arifjan; BPA W912D1-04-A-0052 (BPA 0052) awarded
on September 28, 2004, for bottled water; and, W912D1-04-A-0047(BPA 0047) awarded
on or about September 30, 2004, for tents, latrines, dumpsters, bulk water, generators,
black and grey water removal, and light sets.

32.  In addition to receiving the award by the Army of BPAs 897, 932, 0052,

and 0047, during September 2004, Al Tawash’s companies submitted proposals to the




Army for other contracts.

33.  On or about September 25, 2004, Gulf Group submitted a proposal to
Cockerham for magnum light sets. The cover letter was signed by Al Tawash as General
Manager of Gulf Group. A copy of this proposal was found in a search of Cockerham’s
residence.

34.  On or about September 26, 2004, Cockerham emailed Saud Al Tawash at
Gulf Telecom inviting him to submit a proposal for black and grey water removal stating
that it was on “a short suspense.” Gulf Group in fact received thé award of BPA 0047
that included black and grey water removal several days later.

35.  On or about September 27, 2004, Al Tawash signed a proposal for Gulf
Telecom to supply a fully operational uninterrupted supply system to the government.
This proposal appears to have been directed to Cockerham, as a copy of it was found in a
search of Cockerham’s residence.

36.  On September 29, 2004, Saud Al Tawash submitted a Gulf Group proposal
to the Army in which he referred the Army to Green Valleys’ performance on four
subcontracts with Kellogg, Brown and Root (KBR) earlier in 2004 as proof of Gulf
Group’s responsibility as a government contractor. This constituted an express or implied
representation by Al Tawash to the Army that Gulf Group and Green Valley were
interchangeable for purposes of performing government contracts. Al Tawash referred to

Green Valley as “our environmental cleaning Company.”
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37.  On September 30, 2004, Green Valley submitted a proposal to Cockerham
for wash rack pump filtration operation and maintenance at Camp Arifjan. This proposal
was signed on Green Valley’s behalf by Surest Pulikkal in his capacity as Green Valley’s
Project Control Manager. Through this proposal, Al Tawash advised Cockerham that, if
Green Valley received the contract, the Army should make payments thereunder to the
bank account of Gulf Group. Thus, as of September 30, 2004, or earlier, Cockerham
knew of Al Tawash’s interest in Green Valley. In fact, Cockerham understood that Saud
Al Tawash owned and/or controlled defendants Green Valley aﬁd Palm Springs, in
addition to Gulf Group and Gulf Telecom.

38.  On or about October 18, 2004, Cockerham awarded BPA 0001 to Green
Valley for tents, latrines, dumpsters, bulk water, generators, black and grey water removal
(wastewater), and light sets.

39.  On November 18, 2004, defendants Green Valley and Palm Springs
purportedly entered into a joint venture to perform wastewater removal services under
BPA 0001. Green Valley instructed the Army to remit contract payments to a bank
account owned by Palm Springs.

40.  BPA 0001 contained prices that were inflated above competitive market
prices. This is demonstrated by a comparison of price for wastewater removal received
by Green Valley earlier in 2004 on its KBR subcontracts in which Cockerham was not

involved with the price Cockerham awarded to Green Valley for the same service in BPA
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0001.

41.  Two of the subcontracts that KBR awarded Green Valley covered
wastewater removal. On February 6, 2004, for example, KBR awarded Green Valley a
subcontract to remove wastewater at KBR’s maintenance facility at Amgarah, Kuwait, at
a price of .0035 Kuwaiti dinars (KD) per gallon. On February 14, 2004, KBR awarded
Green Valley a subcontract for wastewater removal at Camp Navistar, Kuwait at .00239
KD per gallon.

42.  In contrast, the price awarded by Cockerham in BPA 0001 was .015 KD per
gallon, four to six times higher than the price Green Valley charged to KBR. The fact
that Green Valley’s prices in BPA 0001 were inflated above competitive market prices
was known to Al Tawash, and to Green Valley and Palm Springs through Al Tawash,
inasmuch as Al Tawash knew the terms of the Green Valley subcontracts with KBR.

43.  Inlate 2004, Cockerham continued to take actions benefitting Al Tawash
through favorable contract actions involving companies he owned, controlled, or had an
interest. On November 1, 2004, Cockerham issued call number 0002 under BPA 0001,
which raised the price per 1,000 gallons for wastewater removal from various tanks at
Camp Arifjan from .015 KD to .025 KD.

44.  On or about December 1, 2004, Cockerham issued call number 0003 to
Gulf Group pursuant to BPA 0052 for bottled water.

45.  On or about December 27, 2004, Cockerham issued call number 0004 to
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Gulf Group under BPA 0052 for bottled water.

46. On or about December 29, 2004, Cockerham issued a modification to BPA
0001 adding Palm Springs’ name to the BPA “for payment purposes.”

47.  During 2005, Cockerham continued to issue calls to Gulf Group under its
BPAs. Some of these calls were patently beyond the scope of the BPAs under which they
were issued. For example, Cockerham issued calls to Gulf Group under BPA
0047—which was limited to the supply of items and services such as tents, latrines,
dumpsters, and waste water removal--for construction work and équipment leasing.

48.  In or about March or April 2005, Cockerham entered into an agreement
with Mohammed Howaiji of Green Valley under which Mohammed Howaiji promised to
pay $800,000 to Cockerham in exchange for Cockerham awarding Green Valley more
business.

49.  Howaiji subsequently came to Camp Arifjan and showed Cockerham
money in a briefcase. They agreed that an agent of Green Valley would deliver the
money to the United States for Cockerham, and Mohammed Howaiji promised
Cockerham that he would send additional money to Cockerham in the United States after
his deployment ended and he returned to the United States.

50.  The Green Valley agent later traveled to the United States and opened a
bank account for the benefit of Cockerham in a Bank of America branch. This account

was funded by two incoming wire transfers from the Commercial Bank of Kuwait in the
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